1997

Mary M. Baldwin v. Monumental Life Corporation, Cyprus Credit Union and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to §78-2-2(3), *Utah Code Annotated*.

V.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented for review is as follows:

Whether or not the court below erred in concluding that there was no accidental death coverage in effect at the time of the death of plaintiff's decedent, where decedent had accepted defendants' offer and unconditionally authorized the withdrawal of premiums from his credit union account (R.204-7; A.3-6)?

Because this appeal is from an order granting summary judgment, all issues are reviewed as questions of law for correctness, with no deference to the trial court's conclusions. See Schurtz v. BMW of North America, 814 P.2d 1108, 1111-12 (Utah 1991).

VI.

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS**

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations, which are determinative of this appeal.

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

This case involves a dispute as to life insurance (accidental death) coverage on the life of John Baldwin, deceased. Plaintiff Mary Baldwin is the grandmother of decedent, and the policy beneficiary (R.39). The policy in question was underwritten by defendant Monumental Life Corporation and procured by defendant Cyprus Credit Union (R.36-37).

Defendants denied coverage, on the ground that an insurance upgrade, providing \$150,000 in coverage, did not become effective until after decedent's death (R.39). Decedent completed the upgrade form and mailed it on December 27, 1993 (R.38). He was killed in a hunting accident the following day, December 28, 1993 (R.38). Defendants claim that, according to the "Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice" provided to decedent, the upgraded coverage was not effective until February 1, 1994 (R.39).

Plaintiff filed a three-count complaint on or about February 8, 1995 (R.1-8). Count I alleges bad faith denial of coverage, and seeks compensatory damages. Count II seeks punitive damages. Count III alleges conversion of the policy proceeds. The existence of a valid contract of insurance, as of the date of death, is necessary to all three counts.

On or about May 31, 1995, defendants answered and filed a counterclaim (R.9-23). Count I of the counterclaim alleged that the previously obtained basic coverage of \$1,000 was procured by fraud. Count II alleged that this suit was filed in bad faith. The court below

granted summary judgment for plaintiff on the counterclaim, and defendants have not cross-appealed (A.3-6). Thus, the counterclaim is not at issue.

On or about December 12, 1995, defendants filed a motion for summary judgment (R.34-35). Plaintiffs were granted an extension of time to respond, pursuant to Rule 56(f), *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* (R.118). After further discovery, defendants renewed their motion for summary judgment, on or about October 11, 1996 (R.119-21). Defendants argued, that decedent's death had occurred before the effective date of coverage, which they asserted was February 1, 1994 (R.39). Defendants also argued, that decedent had failed to comply with all conditions precedent to obtaining coverage, and that decedent's completed upgrade form was an application which was never accepted by Monumental Life (R.41-43).

Plaintiff filed a cross-motion for summary judgment on her complaint (R.122-23). By minute entry dated January 17, 1997, the court denied plaintiff's cross-motion and granted defendants' motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's complaint (R.174).

On March 20, 1997, plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment on defendants' counterclaim (R.177-78). By minute entry dated March 28, 1997, the court granted that motion (R.203). The court entered a written final order and judgment on April 30, 1997 dismissing both the complaint and counterclaim (A.3-6).

Plaintiff filed her timely notice of appeal on May 29, 1997 (R.214-15; A.1-2). No cross-appeal was filed.

B. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

Decedent John Baldwin was a member of defendant Cyprus Credit Union (R.36). In 1991, decedent obtained accidental death insurance through Cyprus in the amount of \$1,000 (R.37). That insurance was at no cost to the decedent. It was underwritten by Monumental Life (R.37).

Prior to December 27, 1993, defendants provided decedent with a "Benefit Upgrade Request," offering additional coverage up to \$150,000 (R.37). Specifically, three documents were provided--a letter from Cyprus (A.7); a Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice (A.9-10); and, a Personal Insurance Statement with detachable Benefit Upgrade Request (A.8) (collectively Exhibit B to Fischer Aff.; R.52).¹

The letter from Cyprus states, that the insurer, Monumental Life, is conducting a "guaranteed open enrollment period" during which insured members may purchase additional insurance (A.7). The letter advises that to "upgrade . . . present coverage," the insured need only "simply complete the enclosed Benefit Upgrade Request form" and "[m]ail [it] to [defendants'] Speed Processing Department before the open enrollment deadline" (A.7). The letter does not mention any delayed effective date. Nor does it state that any review or approval by the insurer will be required.

¹These documents are in an envelope, which is designated as one page in the record. They are separately designated in the Addendum at A. 7-10.

The second document sent to decedent, a Benefit Upgrade Request form, is a simple card (A.8). Decedent was instructed to check the desired amount of additional coverage, accept or decline family coverage and sign (A.8). Decedent was not asked to provide any sort of information, which might be reviewed to decide if coverage would be provided. The form had a return deadline of January 3, 1994 (A.8). The form provides that the insured is to check the appropriate boxes, "sign and date the debit authorization," and "mail [it] in [the] enclosed envelope" (A.8). The "debit authorization," which appears just above the decedent's signature, provides in pertinent part:

I hereby authorize my Financial Institution [ie. Cyprus] to make the necessary periodic account debits . . . I further understand that coverage will only become effective if there are sufficient funds.

(A.8) (emphasis added).

Just below the signature block, the words "Automatic Speed Processing Form" appear in bold, red capital letters (A.8).

The third document, the "Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice," emphasizes "You Are Eligible for \$150,000.00" (A.9). It specifically states, "[d]uring this open enrollment period you are guaranteed to be accepted" (A.9) (emphasis added). The "summary of insurance provisions," contained in that document provides, in part:

The final interpretation of any specific provision or claim is governed by the Master Policy.

Your coverage remains in force as long as the Master Policy is in force, premiums are paid and you remain an account holder of the eligible group.

Enroll Now For Additional Coverage.

(A.9-10).

The language, upon which defendants seek to rely, appears at the very bottom of page two (reverse side) of this document, under "effective date of coverage" (A.10). It states, "[t]hese are the dates on which coverage may become effective . . ." It then lists dates under two columns captioned "Completed Benefit Upgrade Requests Accepted by The Administrator" and "Effective Date of Coverage." The corresponding "effective date" for requests "accepted" between "October 2 - January 1" is "February 1."

There is nothing to fill out and no place to sign on this document (A.9-10). It does not purport to be a contract or application form. It is, at best, an informational flyer.

Decedent checked the boxes on his Benefit Upgrade Request form for \$150,000 in coverage and no family coverage (R.38). He signed the form and, on December 27, 1993, deposited it in the mail to the "Speed Processing Department" (R.38). Decedent did so, at that time, because he had an unfortunately prophetic concern about his upcoming hunting trip. On

the next day, December 28, 1993 , decedent was killed in a hunting accident (R.38). The form was received by defendants on or about December 30, 1993 (R.38).

At the time, decedent had sufficient funds in his Cyprus account to pay the first premium in the amount of \$15 (R.125). Notwithstanding decedent's signed authorization, no premium payments were debited (R.38). Plaintiff did nothing to prevent that from occurring.

VIII.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There was a binding contract for life insurance. The effective date provision, relied upon by defendants, was ambiguous and ineffective. Coverage commenced immediately when the form was executed and mailed by John Baldwin.

A.

There Was a Valid and Binding Insurance Contract.

The form executed and mailed by decedent was not an application, but an acceptance of defendant's unconditional, guaranteed offer to upgrade decedent's benefits. See Ivey v. Wood, 387 P.2d 621, 626 (Okl. 1963). A binding contract was formed, when this acceptance was mailed. Decedent executed the only form required (A.8) and tendered his first premium by authorizing the debiting of his account for that purpose; accordingly, decedent was covered at that time. See Stevenson v. First Colony Life Ins. Co., 827 P.2d 973, 977 (Utah App. 1992); Phoenix Indemnity Ins. Co. v. Bell, 896 P.2d 32, 36-37, n.9 (Utah App. 1995).

B.

Coverage Became Effective Immediately

The Monumental Life policy is ambiguous as to effective date because it is contradictory and not readily understandable to an average reasonable insured. See U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Sandt, 854 P.2d 510, 523-25 (Utah 1993). The solicitation to which decedent responded offers a quick and easy upgrading of coverage, which conflicts with a delayed effective date. There was, at a minimum, temporary or conditional coverage at the time of decedent's death. See Stevenson, 827 P.2d 977.

IX.

ARGUMENT

A valid and binding contract was formed, as a matter of law, at the time decedent accepted defendant's offer for additional coverage by executing the Benefit Upgrade Request form and unconditionally authorizing the withdrawal of premium payments from his credit union account (A.8). Alternatively, there is a sufficient dispute as to the intent of the parties to preclude summary judgment, particularly for the insurer. That contract became immediately effective, when the form was deposited in the mail, notwithstanding the "effective date" listed at the end of the Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice (A.10). The "effective date" provision was not part of the agreement, as presented to decedent. At a minimum, the contract as a whole is sufficiently ambiguous to preclude adopting the insurer's interpretation and granting summary judgment to defendants.

A.

There Was A Valid And Binding Insurance Contract

Decedent's execution of the Benefit Upgrade Request form was an acceptance of defendants' unconditional, guaranteed offer for additional coverage of \$150,000. This was not an application for insurance, subject to approval or acceptance by defendants. Decedent did all that was required of him to meet defendants' stated conditions, and "only ministerial acts [ie. "speed processing"] remain[ed] to be performed." Ivey v. Wood, 387 P.2d 621, 626 (Okla. 1963). The contract, thus, became effective when decedent deposited his unconditional acceptance in the mail, on December 27, 1993. See Restatement of Contracts 2d, §66.

Decedent responded to a solicitation to participate in a "guaranteed open enrollment." The defendants' notice specifically states, "you are guaranteed to be accepted." The cover letter from Cyprus also states, that to obtain this guaranteed coverage one must "simply complete the enclosed Benefit Upgrade Request form . . . [and m]ail [it]." That form is the only document, which decedent was asked or required to execute.

There is no reasonable manner in which that form can be regarded as an application for insurance. In addition to the guaranteed acceptance language, the form does not call for any information (other than coverage choice) to be provided. It does not set forth any conditions under which the insurer reserves the right to request proof or evidence of insurability, as is required by law. See § 31A-22-512(2), Utah Code Ann. Upon what basis were defendants planning to accept or reject this so-called "application"? The nature of this transaction is clear--defendants made an offer and decedent accepted it. A binding contract was formed.

The real key, here, is the debit authorization appearing just above where decedent signed (A.8). Basically, when one completes the prescribed forms and pays a premium, he is covered. See Stevenson v. First Colony Life Ins. Co., 827 P.2d 973, 977 (Utah App. 1992). It is equally well-established that, where any payment is required, an unconditional tender of such payment or unconditional promise to pay is sufficient. See Phoenix Indemnity Ins. Co. v. Bell, 896 P.2d 32, 36-37, n.9 (Utah App. 1995). By executing the debit authorization, decedent took the last step necessary to pay his premiums. He unconditionally authorized defendants to make the required debits. He, thereby, tendered payment. The fact, that defendants never actually debited the account, is irrelevant. They had the authority to do so. See e.g. Hill v. Chubb Life American Ins. Co., 870 P.2d 1133, 1139 (Ariz. App. 1993).² Thus, there was clearly a contract, and the issue is whether or not the "effective date" provision precluded coverage at the time of decedent's death.

B.

Coverage Became Effective Immediately

Once the existence of a contract is established, the case becomes a matter of contract interpretation. In this regard, an insurance policy or contract must be interpreted from the perspective of a reasonable lay person. See U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Sandt, 854 P.2d 510, 524-25 (Utah 1993). Any ambiguity must be resolved against the insurer and in favor of

²In Hill, the court held that merely designating automatic withdrawal as the method of payment was not a tender. The court contrasted this mere designation with cases where, as here, the insured executes an authorization for debit. 870 P.2d at 1139.

coverage. 854 P.2d at 523-25. An ambiguity exists where a provision is not clear to an average reasonable insured or is somehow contradictory. Id. See also Moore v. Energy Mutual Ins. Co., 814 P.2d 1141 (Utah App. 1991); Sparrow v. Tayco Construction Co., 846 P.2d 1323, 1327 (Utah App. 1993). In particular, exclusions or limitations must be clearly and unmistakably communicated to the insured. Moore, supra. A policy, like any contract, must be interpreted as a whole with meaning accorded to all parts thereof. See Nielsen v. O'Reilly, 848 P.2d 664, 665 (Utah 1992).

There is a clear conflict between "speed processing" and a thirty-day delay before coverage becomes effective. The tenor of defendants' solicitation, as a whole, is that an immediate, limited opportunity is being provided (A.7-10). There is a deadline for responding to a "speed processing department." With all the "speed" and "immediacy" provisions up front and the "effective date" provision buried at the bottom of the backside, the effective date would not be clear to an average insured. Indeed, what is the point of speed processing a simple upgrade form, then waiting for an effective date?

Additionally, the effective date provision uses the equivocal phrase "may become effective," rather than more affirmative language. For example, it could have provided, that coverage "shall not be effective" until a certain date. In this regard, nothing in any of the documents excludes the existence of temporary or conditional coverage, pending issuance of a policy at the later date, which is customary. See Stevenson, 827 P.2d at 977 ("when an insurer has received an application for life insurance together with payment of the first premium [or a valid tender thereof], a provisional contract granting temporary insurance is created"). Such a

contract for temporary insurance is deemed separate from the main contract for permanent coverage and, thus, is unaffected by any effective date provision. See Pappageorge v. Federal Kemper Life Assur., 878 P.2d 56, 60 (Colo. App. 1994).

Moreover, the "effective date" provision was not part of anything which decedent was required to sign. It was part of the Enrollment Notice. The card, which he signed and returned, contains no "effective date" provision. The card, which he signed and returned, contains no acknowledgement that he has read or reviewed anything in particular. It does not counsel or advise the prospective insured to read or review any other document before making a decision. That form card also specifically suggests, that coverage "will . . . become effective if there are sufficient funds [in the account to cover premiums.]" It requires the insured to authorize debiting his account to pay those premiums.

The Notice, itself, does not advise the insured to read it carefully and completely. It does not purport to set forth the terms of coverage. Primarily, it touts additional coverage which may be obtained quickly and easily. If the insured had begun to review the "Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice," he would have read, on page 1, that his coverage was "governed by [a] Master Policy" which was not provided (A.9). He would have read that "coverage remains in force as long as the Master Policy is in force, premiums are paid and you remain an account holder" (A.9).³ Those three conditions were met here.

³It is more than a little confusing to speak of decedent's coverage in the present tense, prior to providing information as to a delayed effective date.

Defendants chose this method for marketing the additional coverage. They chose to utilize a collection of flyers, forms and letters, which emphasized speed and ease. They chose to bury any reference to a delayed effective date. They failed to clearly and unmistakably convey this limit upon coverage. They should suffer the consequences of those choices. See e.g. Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Dennis, 645 P.2d 672, 675 (Utah 1982). It was, therefore, error for the court below to decide, as a matter of law, that coverage was not effective until February 1, 1994. Even if there was little or no dispute as to historical facts, there is clearly a dispute as to the "understanding, intention or consequences of those facts," which precludes summary judgment. Sandberg v. Klein, 575 P.2d 1291, 1292 (Utah 1978). This is simply not an integrated, unambiguous insurance contract, which could be interpreted as a matter of law in favor of the drafter/insurer. See Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet, 876 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah App. 1994); Sandt, 854 P.2d at 523-25. The judgment for defendants must, therefore, be reversed.

Summary judgment could be granted to plaintiff--and she filed a cross-motion to that effect. This is because, in the insurance context, an ambiguous contract may be interpreted as a matter of law in favor of coverage. See Sandt, 854 P.2d at 523-25. Additionally, coverage is effective, once a premium is paid. See Stevenson, 827 P.2d at 977. Here, it is undisputed that decedent executed the debit authorization, thereby tendering full payment.

X.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, plaintiff/appellant respectfully submits that the summary judgment entered for defendant must be reversed and, either the case should be remanded for trial or summary judgment entered for plaintiff.