1997

Mary M. Baldwin v. Monumental Life Insurance Co. Cyprus Credit Union and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: If John Baldwin had a valid contract for additional accidental death insurance at the time of his death, the contract was for insurance coverage effective February 1, 1994, after Mr. Baldwin's death. The Effective Date of Coverage provision is clear, and Ms. Baldwin's argument that statements in the Benefit Upgrade Packet regarding the quickness of processing the Benefits Upgrade Request somehow render the provision ambiguous is futile. Her argument that the Benefit Upgrade Request created a temporary contract of insurance, raised for the first time on appeal, is similarly unavailing. Ms. Baldwin has not pointed to any statement in the Benefit Upgrade Packet, as she cannot, suggesting that tem-

porary insurance is gifted to the applicant free of charge until the effective date of coverage.

POINT II: Mr. Baldwin never even had an enforceable insurance contract at the time of his death. Mr. Baldwin's mere act of mailing the Benefit Upgrade Request to Monumental on December 27, 1993, was insufficient to create a contract of insurance to cover his death the next day. The Benefit Upgrade Packet states that the Benefit Upgrade Request must be received by Monumental and the first premium paid for additional coverage before coverage may become effective. Neither of these conditions precedent to formation of a contract for accidental death insurance of \$150,000.00 was met at the time of Mr. Baldwin's death.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

**IF MR. BALDWIN HAD A VALID CONTRACT FOR
\$150,000.00 ACCIDENTAL DEATH INSURANCE AT THE
TIME OF DEATH, WHAT HE CONTRACTED FOR WAS
COVERAGE THAT BEGAN FEBRUARY 1, 1994, AFTER
HIS DEATH.**

The Effective Date of Coverage provision contained in the Summary of Insurance Provisions Mr. Baldwin received at the time of his application clearly explains that if the completed Benefit Upgrade Request is accepted by Monumental between October 2 and January 1, coverage becomes effective on February 1. The Master

Policy made available for Mr. Baldwin's review at the time of his application reiterates that notwithstanding the issuance of any certificate of insurance, coverage does not become effective until the beginning of the Policy Quarter following acceptance of the enrollment form and payment of the first premium. An insurance contract is interpreted pursuant to the same rules that apply to any other contract, and its express terms must accordingly be enforced. Village Inn Apartments v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 790 P.2d 581, 582 (Utah App. 1990). If Mr. Baldwin had a valid contract for accidental death benefits in the amount of \$150,000.00 at the time of his death, what he contracted for (and what Ms. Baldwin was entitled to as the beneficiary), according to the plain language of the contract,³ was coverage that began on February 1, after his death.

³Ms. Baldwin asserts that the Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice is "at best, an informational flyer" without any binding effect whatsoever and that the only portion of the Benefit Upgrade Package that can be considered as conveying the terms of insurance is the Benefit Upgrade Request. (Brief of Appellant at 6). Nonetheless, she refers to other portions of the Benefit Upgrade Package (such as the statement in the Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice that "you are guaranteed to be accepted" and the reference to the Speed Processing Department in the letter from Cyprus) to support her contention that the Effective Date of Coverage provision is ambiguous. (Brief of Appellant at 4-5, 11). Ms. Baldwin cannot have it both ways. The letter from Cyprus makes clear that all documents included in the Benefit Upgrade Packet, which Mr. Baldwin was urged in the letter to "take the time to review," must be read to understand the benefits available.

A. The Effective Date Of Coverage Provision Is Not Ambiguous.

It is clear that coverage did not begin until February 1. Ms. Baldwin does not contend that the Effective Date of Coverage provision is ambiguous by itself; she claims that when read in conjunction with the "speed processing" references in the letter and the Benefit Upgrade Request, the provision becomes ambiguous. (Brief of Appellant at 11). The "speed processing" references do not contradict the Effective Date of Coverage provision--they simply imply that once the Speed Processing Department receives a completed Benefits Upgrade Request, the process of recording the applicant's desire for additional benefits will be quick. The fact that coverage cannot take effect until the next Policy Quarter, February 1, remains unchanged. Quick processing of an application does not mean the effective date of coverage will be any sooner than February 1. The Effective Date of Coverage provision is not ambiguous simply because Ms. Baldwin chooses to equate speedy processing of an application with coverage effective the day the Benefits Upgrade Request is mailed. See Alf v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 850 P.2d 1272, 1274-75 (policy term is not ambiguous just because the insured accords it an interpretation benefiting his own interests).

Ms. Baldwin also contends the statement in the Effective Date of Coverage provision that coverage "may become effective" on one of four enumerated dates (February 1, May 1, August 1, and November 1) "provided your form has been received by the administrator and the first premium for additional coverage has been paid" is ambiguous, because it supposedly could be construed to mean that coverage could take effect sometime before February 1. (Brief of Appellant at 11). The word "may" is used in the Effective Date of Coverage Provision to convey that there are four possible dates on which coverage can become effective, and that coverage will become effective on one of these dates if the form is received and the first premium is paid. Ms. Baldwin's position that using the words "will become effective" would have been more emphatic, and therefore unambiguous, asks this Court to disregard reason and common sense in the name of semantic niceties--and strained semantic niceties at that. Although ambiguities in insurance contracts are resolved against the insurer, this Court should not engage in an illogical parsing of isolated contractual terms in order to create an ambiguity where none exists. Alf v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 850 P.2d at 1272, n.14, citing Millar v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 804 P.2d 822 (Ariz. App. 1990).

Finally, Ms. Baldwin maintains the Effective Date of Coverage provision is unclear not because its language is confusing, but because it is "buried at the bottom of the backside" of the Summary of Provisions. (Brief of Appellant at 11). Far from being "buried," the Effective Date of Coverage provision is visually set off on the one-page Guaranteed Open Enrollment Notice with columns, bold lettering, and capital lettering. Regardless of the location of a provision in an insurance contract, the provision still exists and remains a part of the contract; effect must be given to all terms in an insurance contract. Nielsen v. O'Reilly, 848 P.2d 664 (Utah 1992). The terms of the Effective Date of Coverage provision are repeated in the Master Policy, making the terms even harder to miss.

The Effective Date of Coverage provision should not be written out of the Summary of Provisions based on Ms. Baldwin's complaint that an effective coverage date of February 1 is somehow ambiguous. The Benefit Upgrade Packet clearly conveys that the applicant is applying for additional coverage that will take effect February 1. Ms. Baldwin is not entitled to benefits because Mr. Baldwin died before the effective coverage date.

B. Mr. Baldwin's Completion of the Benefits Upgrade Request Did Not Create a Contract of Temporary Insurance.

Ms. Baldwin claims that even if the effective coverage date of February 1 was unambiguous, coverage actually began as soon as Mr. Baldwin mailed the Benefits Upgrade Request because Monumental supposedly gave him free temporary insurance coverage in the amount of \$150,000.00 to last until February 1. She did not present this argument to the trial court and is precluded from raising it on appeal from a summary judgment. Franklin Financial v. New Empire Develop. Co., 659 P.2d 1045 (Utah 1983).

Ms. Baldwin made a cursory claim before the trial court that the mailing of the Benefits Upgrade Request created a statutory binder contract. (R. 128-29). This statutory argument is different from her new argument on appeal that a common law temporary insurance contract was created. In State v. Yoder, 935 P.2d 534, 543 n.6 (Utah App. 1997), the court noted that although the appellant presented arguments before both the trial court and appellate court regarding protections afforded under article I, §14 of the Utah Constitution, the arguments presented to each court were different, precluding the appellant from raising his new argument on appeal. Here, Ms. Baldwin improperly attempts to switch from a statutory basis for a binder insurance contract to a common-

law basis for a temporary insurance contract. Even if the statutory argument Ms. Baldwin mentioned below would be considered similar enough to her common-law argument to preserve it for appeal, Ms. Baldwin only devoted a half page in the record below, without any factual or legal analysis, to her statutory "argument." (R. 128-29). Mere mention of a legal argument, without explanation or analysis, is insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. Mills v. Brody, 929 P.2d 360 (Utah App. 1996).

However, if this Court decides to consider Ms. Baldwin's argument on appeal, the contention that the Benefits Upgrade Request constituted a temporary contract with coverage effective on December 27 lacks merit. There is nothing in the Benefit Upgrade Packet suggesting that although coverage is not effective until February 1, coverage will be provided to last until February 1 as soon as the Benefits Upgrade Request is mailed. Indeed, the provision of immediate temporary coverage would be contradictory to an effective coverage date of February 1.

Ms. Baldwin surmises that since she can think of no reason why Mr. Baldwin should have been made to wait until February 1 for coverage to begin, coverage must have commenced on December 27, 1993, through a temporary contract of insurance. (Brief of

Appellant at 11). Enforceability of an express provision in an insurance contract like the Effective Date of Coverage provision is not dependent upon providing an explanation that justifies its existence to the beneficiary's satisfaction. This Court should decline Ms. Baldwin's request to nullify the Effective Date of Coverage provision because she does not see "what the point is"⁴ in denying immediate coverage to an applicant the day he mails a Benefit Upgrade Request. (Brief of Appellant at 11).

The cases cited by Ms. Baldwin for the proposition that provision of immediate temporary coverage, pending issuance of the policy, is "customary," actually support Monumental's defense that there was no temporary insurance because nothing in the Benefit Upgrade Packet provides for it; all the cases she relies upon involve situations where the insured completed and mailed an insurance application along with the first premium payment, then received a written document from the insurance company stating that

⁴There are several compelling policy reasons why an insurance company would want an applicant to wait a few weeks after mailing his application before receiving coverage. For instance, this practice is akin to the "waiting period" provision in many life insurance contracts mandating that benefits are not payable to the beneficiaries of an insured who commits suicide unless the death occurs a certain length of time after the policy has been in force. Additionally, an insurance company that receives a large volume of applications on a daily basis may wish for the purposes of administrative efficiency and consistency to provide only certain dates that coverage can commence, coinciding with Policy Quarters.

it was furnishing temporary insurance that would allow the insured interim coverage until he received the insurance policy. In Stevenson v. First Colony Life Ins. Co., 827 P.2d 973 (Utah App. 1992) (cited extensively in Brief of Appellant), Stevenson filled out a life insurance application for an insurance policy that did not contain an effective date of coverage provision and tendered a check to the insurance company for the first premium payment. The insurance company subsequently issued Stevenson a "conditional receipt" that set forth the conditions under which conditional coverage would become effective prior to policy delivery. The insurance company did not attempt to return the premium check prior to Mr. Stevenson's death. Understandably, the court determined that a contract for temporary insurance was issued by the insurance company. Stevenson, 827 P.2d at 975. In Phoenix Indem. Ins. Co. v. Bell, 896 P.2d 32 (Utah App. 1995) (cited in Brief of Appellant at 7, 10), Bell sent a completed application for automobile insurance containing a binder of temporary insurance and a premium check to Phoenix Indemnity, and it deposited his check. Phoenix Indemnity issued the insurance policy, then attempted to cancel the insurance policy when it discovered that Bell did not have sufficient funds in his bank account to cover the premium check. The court determined that a provision in the insurance application

that "no coverage would be considered bound" if his premium check was not honored applied only to the binder of temporary insurance and could not be relied upon by Phoenix Indemnity to cancel the insurance policy. Phoenix Indem. Inc. Co. v. Bell, 896 P.2d at 33-36. Finally, in Pappageorge v. Federal Kemper Life Assur., 878 P.2d 56 (Colo. App. 1994) (cited in Brief of Appellant at 12), Pappageorge submitted an application for life insurance along with the first year's premium to Federal Kemper. He was given a conditional receipt that provided temporary coverage pursuant to detailed terms and conditions. The court observed that the extent of temporary coverage provided by the conditional receipt was "dependent primarily on the particular wording of the receipt in question." Paggageorge, 878 P.2d at 60.

By contrast, Mr. Baldwin never received a conditional receipt for temporary insurance after completing the Benefits Upgrade Request. No premium payment was ever debited from his account, so it cannot be argued that Monumental's use of Mr. Baldwin's money justifies creating some sort of implied contract of temporary insurance. Ms. Baldwin's frequent assertions in her brief that Mr. Baldwin "tendered" the premium by authorizing a debit aside,⁵

⁵Ms. Baldwin contends that in Hill v. Chubb Life American Ins. Co., 870 P.2d 1133 (Ariz. App. 1993), the court intimated that authorization for a debit could constitute a tender of a premium.

it is undisputed that Monumental never debited money from Mr. Baldwin's account for a premium payment. Indeed, it would have been impossible for Monumental to have debited his account before he died because Monumental did not receive the application until after his death. Moreover, Monumental had no reason to debit money from his account until February 1, when Mr. Baldwin would have received the benefit of insurance coverage in return for his premium payment.

While there appears to be authority, based on the case law cited by Ms. Baldwin, that a temporary contract of insurance may be created when an individual receives an actual document conveying temporary insurance and pays a premium, this is not the case here. Monumental never issued Mr. Baldwin a conditional receipt and it never received a premium payment. To the contrary, it was clear that coverage did not begin until February 1. It follows that there was no contract of temporary insurance providing coverage as

(Brief of Appellant at 10, n.2). Ms. Baldwin misreads Hill. The court concluded that an applicant's specification that premiums would be made by preauthorized automatic checking did not constitute "payment" of a premium. The court further noted that the insurance company could not debit the applicant's account until an insurance policy was issued. Hill, 870 P.2d at 1139. Similarly, notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Baldwin authorized the debiting of his account, Monumental was not entitled to debit the account until Mr. Baldwin received coverage on February 1.

soon as Mr. Baldwin mailed the Benefit Upgrade Request. The court in Watts v. Life Insurance Co. of Arkansas, 782 S.W.2d 47 (Ark. App. 1990) adopted similar logic towards an insurance company that rejected a beneficiary's claim that an application of insurance constituted a temporary life insurance contract. The application provided that "individual insurance will become effective on the first day of the month next following the date the application is received." The applicant died before that date. The court termed the "effective date of coverage" provision "clear and unambiguous," explaining that

as there is no provision for temporary coverage, [the effective date of coverage provision] determines the effective date of the individual insurance applied for by the decedent. Because the decedent died prior to that date, no insurance coverage was in effect under the terms of the policy at the time of her death.

Watts, 782 S.W.2d at 49 (attached as Addendum C).

The court in Watts accordingly affirmed summary judgment for the insurance company. Id. at 50. In Wells v. United States Life Insurance Co., 804 P.2d 333 (Idaho App. 1991), an application brochure for life insurance offered an effective date of coverage "the first day of the month following the approval of the application by insurance company, provided the first quarterly payment had been received." Rejecting the beneficiary's claim that she

nonetheless expected coverage would commence on the date the decedent submitted the application, the court considered the effective date of coverage provision to be unambiguous and affirmed summary judgment for the insurance company. Wells, 804 P.2d at 333-37.

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